IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

VINCENT PUGLISI, Petitioner,

v.

STATE, Respondent.

CASE NO. SC11-768
4TH DCA CASE No. 4D08-3056

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT [CRIMINAL DIVISION]

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Philip Massa, Regional Counsel /Executive Director Office of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel, Fourth District

Melanie L. Casper Assistant Regional Counsel Florida Bar No. 0271070 605 N. Olive Avenue Second Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5156 Facsimile: (561) 837-5423 Email:MCasper@rc-4.com

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This initial brief is submitted on behalf of Petitioner, Vincent Puglisi. Hereinafter, Vincent Puglisi, shall be referred to as "Puglisi." The State shall be referred to as "State" or "Prosecutor." The co-defendant, Rex Ditto, shall be referred to as "Ditto." The victim, Alan Jay Shalleck, shall be referred to as "Shalleck."

All references to the Record on Appeal shall be identified as "R" followed by page numbers supplied by the Clerk of the Court. All references to the trial transcripts shall be identified as "T" followed by page numbers supplied by the court reporter or by volume "V" followed by the volume number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 24, 2006, Puglisi and co-defendant Ditto were indicted for Count I First Degree Murder and Count II Robbery with a Deadly Weapon for the death of Alan Jay Shalleck. (R 11-12).

Ditto pled guilty before trial. Puglisi declined the State's offer to plead guilty to the lesser included offense of Second Degree Murder in exchange for a sentence of 30 years in prison. (T 103, 158). Puglisi proceeded to trial. On June 24, 2008, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged as to each count. (R. 576-577). On July 16, 2008, the trial court adjudged Puglisi guilty on both counts (R 670 -671), and sentenced him to life in prison without the possibility of parole as to Count I and 30 years in prison as to Count II, concurrent with each count. (R 672-673).

Puglisi timely appealed the judgment and sentence to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (R 679). The trial court appointed the Office of the Public Defender for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit ("PD15") for appeal. After the briefing concluded and before the Fourth District Court of Appeal issued its opinion, the PD15 filed a motion to withdraw due to a positional conflict and the Fourth District appointed the Office of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel. On December 22, 2010, the Fourth District affirmed Puglisi's judgment and sentence with a written opinion. *Puglisi v.*

State, 56 So.3d 787 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). Undersigned counsel filed a motion for rehearing and suggestion of certification of conflict with this Court's opinion in Blanco v. State, 452 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1984), the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion in Cain v. State, 565 So.2d 875 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), and the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion in Milligan v. State, 177 So.2d 75 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965). On March 30, 2011, the Fourth District Court of Appeal denied the motion for rehearing, but granted the motion for certification of conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion in Cain v. State, 565 So.2d 875 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), with two judges concurring because of the retirement of Judge Farmer. Puglisi v. State, 2011 Fla. App. LEXIS 4323; 36 Fla. L. Weekly D 654 (Fla. 4th DCA March 30, 2011). Puglisi timely invoked the discretionary review of this Court.

On August 29, 2011, this Court accepted discretionary jurisdiction as to certified direct conflict and as to direct conflict. *Puglisi v. State*, 2011 Fla. LEXIS 2050. (Fla. August 29, 2011). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. FACTS RELATED TO THE CHARGED OFFENSES

On February 7, 2006, two days after Super Bowl Sunday, a maintenance man at Royal Oaks Manor Mobile Home Park discovered the body of Alan Shalleck underneath the trash bags lying in the driveway of Shalleck's residence. (T 1186-1187, 1191, 1198). Shalleck had been stabbed thirty-seven. (T 2082). His cause of death was determined to be the result of multiple stab wounds and blunt head trauma. (T 2045). Some injuries to his face could have been caused by having a pillow pressed against him, but they were not the cause of death. (T 2052, 2123-2124).

Homicide Detective Chris Crawford called a number which had been dialed from Shalleck's telephone. (T 1574). The dialed number belonged to Puglisi, who answered and arranged to meet with Detective Crawford the next day. (T 1577, 1579). When they met, Puglisi agreed to accompany the police back to the station. (T 1591). At the police department, Puglisi stated that he met Shalleck about a year earlier through a gay magazine soliciting spanking. (T 1608-1609). The two had sex approximately every couple of weeks until about a month or two before Shalleck's death. (T 1610, 1624). In one instance, Shalleck whipped Puglisi until he bled. (T 1625). Puglisi

said he worked until 8 P.M on Super Bowl Sunday, and then went out to a restaurant with Ditto, whom he was dating. (T 1614-1615, 1622-1623). The two spent the night at Puglisi's home after the Super Bowl game. (T 1614-1615, 1622).

During the police interview, the Detectives informed Puglisi that Shalleck had been murdered in his home. (T 1636). Puglisi responded that Ditto is the kind of guy that could have done something like that. (T 1638). In the early morning hours of February 6, Puglisi observed Ditto cleaning the front seat of his Ford Explorer with bleach and burning clothing and documents in a pile outside of his back door. (T 1638).

In a second statement to police, later the same day, Puglisi admitted that he and Ditto went to Shalleck's home, at his invitation, after watching the Super Bowl at a restaurant. (T 1648-1649). Ditto and Puglisi had previously discussed robbing Shalleck while at the restaurant. (T 1663, 1671-1672). After watching the game together, Shalleck expressed interest in having sex with Ditto. (T 1650-1651). Shalleck called Puglisi into the bedroom where he saw Shalleck performing oral sex on Ditto. (T 1651-1652, 1659). Ditto then freaked out and began to strangle Shalleck and hit him over the head with a paddle bloodying his entire head. (T 1652, 1660, 1662). Ditto told Puglisi to hold Shalleck down while he retrieved a knife,

so Puglisi held a pillow over Shalleck's face. (T 1652). Ditto stabbed Shalleck multiple times, eventually breaking two knives. (T 1653). Ditto requested that Puglisi get something, so Puglisi retrieved two candleholders, which broke when he threw them down at Shalleck. (T 1653). When that did not work, Ditto returned to the kitchen to get a third knife. (T 1653). Ditto asked Puglisi to stab Shalleck with the third knife and Puglisi refused. (T 1654). Puglisi left the room and heard Ditto repeatedly say that Shalleck just would not die. (T 1653-1654). Ditto came out of the room and told Puglisi that Shalleck was dead. (T 1655). Although Ditto stated they should dispose of the body in Alligator Alley, Shalleck's body was too heavy and they left him in the driveway covered with trash bags from Puglisi's car. (T 1655, 1661, 1664-1665).

Ditto took Shalleck's Fossil watch and wrote a \$450 check on Shalleck's account. (T 1656-1657). Puglisi later pawned Shalleck's gold ring. (T 1657).

Puglisi told police that he never stabbed Shalleck himself: he was afraid. "I don't have the nerve to do it." (T 1661). He was upset and shocked that this had happened, but he was in love with Ditto and "went along with his plan because of the fact that I cared about him and I did not realize the seriousness of the consequences." (T 1677). He refused to leave

town as Ditto had suggested, because "I'm not going to spend the rest of my life running." (T 1677).

After this interview, the police arrested Puglisi. (T 1690).

A friend of Puglisi's, Joseph Carney, visited him in jail several times after his arrest. (T 1771). At first, Puglisi denied having anything to do with the killing, but later he admitted to being present. (T 1775). Carney went to the pawn shop and retrieved the ring Puglisi had pawned. (T 1776, 1780). On Carney's last jail visit he told Puglisi that he did not believe his protestations of innocence. (T 1788). Puglisi became upset and angrily told Carney, "I killed the old son of a bitch, now what do you want out of me," and the two began crying. (T 1788,1798).

A handwriting expert testified that the handwriting on the check written on Shalleck's account and directions to Shalleck's home were written by Puglisi. (T 1892, 1909).

Eyeglasses taken from Rex Ditto had blood stains on one of the lenses (T 1404-1405). A DNA expert testified that the only DNA samples found at the scene in which Puglisi could not be excluded from having contributed to was found on a pillow. (T 1980-1981). Ditto and a close friend of Shalleck's, Michael Raber, could not be excluded from contributing to the DNA found on a knife handle (T 1982). Raber testified that on February 5,

he and Shalleck had dinner at a restaurant, and then he drove Shalleck home. (T 1750).

On February 8, the police found a burn pile at Puglisi's home. (T 1475-1476). In the burn pile, the police discovered keys belonging to the blue car parked in Shalleck's carport, his front door, and for a safe located in his home, and some jewelry identified as belonging to Shalleck. (T 1480-1481, 1554)

B. FACTS RELATED TO WHICH WITNESSES TO CALL

After the State rested, Puglisi's attorneys learned that the codefendant, Ditto, was prepared to testify that Puglisi did nothing, and that Ditto was solely responsible for the death of Shalleck. (T 2142). Ditto lied in the past because he feared the death penalty. (T 2142). The State took the deposition of a defense witness, Michael Zimmerman, who was in jail with Ditto in the past. (T 2143). Ditto told Zimmerman that Puglisi is not responsible for any part of this crime. (T 2143). The Defense attorneys interviewed Ditto over the weekend and he said that he was prepared to testify that he was solely responsible and that Puglisi was present but did not participate in the murder. (T 2143). Ditto told the Defense attorneys that he lied in his past statement to police and in his deposition because he feared

getting the death penalty. (T 2143-2144). The Defense moved for a mistrial based on their inability to properly prepare and determine whether or not to call Ditto as a witness. (T 2144-2145). The State informed the trial court that during the course of conversations with Ditto over the weekend he confirmed that he had done all of the acts resulting in the death of Shalleck and that Puglisi had done nothing. (T 2146). Furthermore, Ditto admitted that he lied previously to avoid the death penalty. (T 2146-2147). However, Ditto told the State that if he was called to testify by either side he would probably lie and testify consistent with his previous statements. (T 2147).

The State further informed the court that in October 2007, just prior to entering his guilty plea, Ditto informed his attorney that Puglisi was not involved. (T 2147). At that time, on October 11, 2007, the State took a statement from Ditto where he stated that he lied to his attorney and that he did not act alone and that Puglisi was involved in the murder. (T. 2147-2149). This statement was incorporated by reference into Ditto's negotiated plea agreement. (T 2148-2149). This inconsistent information was provided to Puglisi's defense attorneys at the time of Ditto's plea. (T 2147). The defense then deposed Ditto with knowledge of the prior inconsistent statements. (T 2149-2150).

The Defense attorneys made a motion for mistrial arguing that that they will have to litigate the admissibility of Ditto's prior statements as involuntarily made because of the threat of the death penalty pursuant to *Brewer v. State*, 386 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1980) (T 2150-2151).

After the court denied the motion for mistrial, the Defense attorneys requested to continue the case to depose Ditto. (T 2153, 2155). The court stated, "...I'm prepared to allow you to continue to decide whether or not you wish to call Mr. Ditto." (T 2153). The court dismissed the jury for the day to allow the defense to depose Ditto. (T 2158).

The court contacted Ditto's trial attorney, Robert Gershman, and had him appear outside the presence of the jury. (T 2164). The court informed Gershman that Ditto may be in violation of his plea agreement that he testify consistently with the factual basis given for his plea. (T 2164-2165). He told the State and Defense attorneys last weekend that he lied in his statement and plea out of fear, and the truth is that he alone was responsible for the crime. (T 2164-2165).

The court reserved ruling on the culpable negligence jury instruction. (T 2173-2174, 2198-2200). "If they follow the principal instruction that if in fact Mr. Ditto comes in and says Mr. Puglisi had nothing to do with it and was in the other room then I would be inclined to give culpable

negligence. So I will base my decision on any testimony that I hear tomorrow." (T 2173-2174) (emphasis added). The court also considered giving the independent act instruction if Ditto's testimony is what was represented to the court, in that he acted alone. (T 2196, 2202-2203) (emphasis added).

After deposing Ditto, the Defense attorneys informed the court that during Ditto's trial recess deposition he stated that he told a variety of people that Puglisi was not involved in this, including his roommate in prison; Michael Zimmerman and Mark Barro, among other prison inmates; a New York Times reporter; a reporter who was writing a book about this case; and a reporter from New Time, all of whom had visited him in prison in Lake Correctional Institution. (T 2205-2207). The State took Mr. Zimmerman's deposition over the weekend, and he stated that Ditto was making some of these statements as early as 2006. (T 2208). Ditto made these statements to his attorneys, one of which is Mr. Gershman. (T 2206). In his deposition, Ditto stated that he told all of those people the same thing that he said in his deposition today. (T 2207). During this deposition, Ditto stated that he planned to testify truthfully that Puglisi was not involved and that he lied initially because of his fear of the death penalty, but that now he does not want to subject Puglisi to the death penalty as a result of his lies. (T 22092210). The Defense attorneys acknowledged that Ditto was "...obviously a very significant witness in this case has exculpatory testimony." (T 2208). The Defense attorneys requested a mistrial "...to properly investigate the statement to make a decision about putting Mr. Ditto on the witness stand at this point." (T 2209). The Defense attorneys requested the mistrial to fully investigate and interview the people whom Ditto confided in with these either prior inconsistent or prior consistent statements. (T 2209-2210).

The court denied the motion for mistrial and recessed for the day. (T 2205-2212).

The next morning, June 24, 2008, the State filed a *Brady* Notice¹ which specifically memorialized Zimmerman's deposition testimony that Ditto claimed total responsibility for the murder. Also, that Ditto acknowledged to the Assistant State Attorney and his investigator during an interview at the Palm Beach County Sheriff's Office that his statement to Zimmerman was true and he made his original statements in order to avoid the death penalty. The Notice also indicated that Ditto stated he would probably lie and testify consistently with his previous statement if he were called to testify by either side.

(R 579-580).

¹ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed.2d 215 (1963).

Also, on June 24, the Defense attorneys informed the court that they were unable to complete their investigation by speaking with those incarcerated witnesses and they were *not prepared to make a decision on whether or not to call Ditto*. (T 2220) (emphasis added). The Defense requested a continuance. (T 2221). The court agreed to allow the defense a brief time to confer with the local witnesses. (T 2228, 2231-2232, 2234). However, when the court called the jury in a few minutes later, the defense rested, noting their intention to enter a previously agreed upon stipulation. (T 2229).

The court recessed briefly to allow the Defense attorneys to speak with Puglisi. (T 2234-2235). Then, the following occurred:

MS. ELLIS (DEFENSE):...At this time Mr. Puglisi's lawyers, myself, Ms. Haughwout and Ms. Vrod have decided that we are not - we do not wish to call Mr. Ditto; however, I believe Mr. Puglisi is - has another position regarding that issue.

THE COURT: Okay. What do you want to tell me, Mr. Puglisi?

THE DEFENDANT: I'd like to call Mr. Ditto.

THE COURT: Well, you have some of the best attorneys in the courthouse and they are advising you against that, do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And *in the end this is your trial*, but I'm serious these attorneys are very, very experienced, excellent attorneys and *it's their opinion that you should not call Mr. Ditto in the proceeding*, do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And you still want him to be called as a witness?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. Anybody else want anything on the record.

MS. HAUGHWOUT (DEFENSE): Judge, we're not going to call Mr. Ditto.

THE COURT: You're not going to call Mr. Ditto? Well, do you want to tell me a little bit more about that, Ms. Haughwout? I mean, in the end I think we all know full and well and vetted this pretty well over the last several days what Mr. Ditto would testify to and I understand there's attorney/client privilege and Mr. Ditto is saying -- I mean, Mr. Puglisi is saying he wants Mr. Ditto to be called and this is obviously going to be an issue the appellate courts will look at. So, Mr. Puglisi, in order to explore that I want to ask Ms. Haughwout some questions that would invade your attorney/client privilege, do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And do you waive your right to keep those - - that privilege? I need to *discuss with her why that decision is being made against your wishes* and I want her to be able to discuss with me things that she might have discussed with you that would fall under what is known as the attorney/client privilege, do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: I'm not - -

THE COURT: Anything that you tell any of your attorneys is private and confidential and cannot be disclosed to anyone. It is a tightly kept secret and under the law it cannot be disclosed. That's known as the attorney/client privilege, do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: I understand that.

THE COURT: And this is a big deal here that you want to call a witness in your own defense and your three attorneys do not believe that this is in your best interest and best for the case and I'm sure they've discussed that with you, is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: (Nods head.)

THE COURT: I need you to speak out loud, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. And so, it's obviously if there were to be a conviction in this case that *the appellate courts are going to look at the fact that you wanted that witness called and your attorneys didn't*. So, I want to do a question and answer session with the lawyers so that they can tell me why they are making that decision and it might entail them discussing things that would have been attorney/client privilege or would have been conversations that they

had with you that shouldn't be disclosed because of that. So, do you waive the right to have those discussions kept confidential?

THE DEFENDANT: I don't understand what that means.

THE COURT: Well, this is really a big issue.

THE DEFENDANT: Right, I understand that.

THE COURT: You want something and your attorneys don't believe that it's in your best interest.

THE DEFENDANT: I understand that.

THE COURT: And you have now stated on the record that you want Mr. Ditto to be called as a witness.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: So, I want your attorneys to tell me why they have made that decision and why they're going against your wishes, do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Do you want me to answer that or the attorneys to answer that?

THE COURT: Well, do you feel like you've had ample time to discuss with your attorneys why they think it's not in your best interest.

THE DEFENDANT: We don't agree on a lot of stuff. My attorneys want me to take a plea, I do not want to take a plea. They talk to me every day about a plea. I don't want to take a plea. As far as my attorneys are concerned, it's hopeless, I'm gonna - - they've already got me hung, I'm losing the case. That's why I figured, well, if I have nothing to lose, that's why I want to call Mr. Ditto, because that's maybe my one last chance of hope, you know, if he'll come clean and be honest and that's what's going on.

(T 2242-2247) (emphasis added).

The defense declined to waive the attorney-client privilege and speak about their decision-making process and reiterated that the defense's position is to not call Ditto to the stand. (T 2242-2247). Addressing Puglisi, the trial court stated:

THE COURT: All right, Mr. Puglisi, let me just say this, your attorneys are excellent attorneys, they really are. And they have been doing a spectacular job representing you. So, I know that you have

indicated you have some discontent about the way things are proceeding and that you disagree with their strategy decision not to call Mr. Ditto and I know that you have been sitting here throughout the discussion of what the issues are as it relates to Mr. Ditto, but your attorneys have discussed it at length amongst themselves and you, some of which has occurred in my presence. So, I'm sorry and it's unfortunate that you disagree with their strategy but they represent you and that's their decision. So, we're going to proceed and so we'll go right into closing arguments then.

(T 2249-2250) (emphasis added).

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