#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### CASE NO. SC11-768

### VINCENT J. PUGLISI,

Petitioner,

- versus -

# STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 4D08-3056

#### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON MERITS**

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO Assistant Attorney General Chief, West Palm Beach Bureau SUE-ELLEN KENNY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 961183 1515 North Flagler Drive, Suite 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000

DCAFilings.4th@myfloridalegal.com and SueEllen.Kenny@myfloridalegal.com

Counsel for Respondent

# **

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

#### **Summary of the Argument**

The Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly determined that the tactical decision regarding which witnesses to call during trial is a decision that is properly made by trial counsel. This Court's opinion in <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 452 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1984) is distinguishable, and the Fifth District Court of Appeals decision in <u>Cain v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 875 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1990) upon which conflict is distinguishable or incorrect.

#### <u>Argument</u>

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE DECISION REGARDING WHICH WITNESSES TO CALL AT TRIAL IS A TACTICAL ONE AND IS WITHIN THE PROVINCE OF SUCH DECISIONS ENTRUSTED TO COUNSEL. (Restated)

## **Standard of Review:**

"The issue in this case is a pure question of law and therefore the standard

of review is de novo." Cromartie v. State, 70 So.3d 559, 563 (Fla. 2011).

#### **Preservation**:

"It is a longstanding principle of our jurisprudence that for a claim to be

addressed by this Court, it must be raised by the party before the trial court, or it has been waived." <u>Baptiste v. State</u>, 995 So.2d 285, 301-302 (Fla. 2008). Petitioner's current argument was never raised in either the trial court or the district court. Therefore this matter has not been preserved. <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). "We even apply this tenet in death cases— without question, the most serious cases that we address, with the most severe consequences." <u>Baptiste</u>, at 301-302, referencing <u>Overton v. State</u>, 976 So.2d 536, 546–47 (Fla. 2007).

#### Merits:

The gravamen of Petitioner's argument is that pursuant to well established law in Florida, the ultimate decision regarding the presentation of a particular witness rest with the defendant. Petitioner relies on <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 452 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1984) for this proposition. Petitioner is completely wrong on the law and he misapplies <u>Blanco</u> and <u>Cain v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 875 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1990). The law in Florida is that whether to call a particular witness is a **strategic decision** properly made by the attorney.

This Court has recognized countless times that the decision to call or not call any particular witness is a strategic decision that is made by trial counsel.

<u>Marquard v. State</u>, 850 So. 2d 417, 427 (Fla. 2002). In fact, this Court has explicitly found that trial counsel's decision not to call a witness due to credibility problems is a reasonable **strategic decision** of trial counsel. <u>Bolin v. State</u>, 41 So. 3d 151, 159-160)(Fla. 2010); <u>See Evans v. State</u>, 995 So.2d 933, 943 (Fla. 2008) (trial counsel's tactical decision not to present witnesses with questionable credibility does not constitute ineffective assistance); <u>Lamarca v. State</u>, 931 So.2d 838, 848-49 (Fla. 2006) (reasonable trial strategy for counsel not to call people who were not credible and would not have made good defense witnesses); <u>Mendoza v. State</u>, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S427 (Fla., July 8, 2011); 2011 WL 652193, 6 (Fla. 2011)(same); <u>Burns v. State</u>, 944 So.2d 234, 242–43 (Fla. 2006)(same).

"[T]his Court has 'consistently held that a trial counsel's decision to not call certain witnesses to testify at trial can be reasonable trial strategy."" Johnston v. <u>State</u> 63 So.3d 730, 741 (Fla. 2011), citing <u>Everett v. State</u>, 54 So.3d 464, 474 (Fla. 2010). <u>Cf. Laidler v. State</u>, 10 So.3d 1136, 1138 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2009)(recognizing that request a continuance is defense counsel's decision and should be granted when appropriate even in opposition to defendant's wishes); <u>Lawrence v. State</u>, 831 So.2d 121, 131 (Fla. 2002)(explaining that the decision to concede guilt to a lesser included offense is also considered a tactical decision which does not require the defendant's consent); <u>Atwater v. State</u>, 788 So.2d 223, 231 (Fla. 2001)(same); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 755 So.2d 616 (Fla. 2000) (holding that concession of guilt of lesser offense did not require defendant's consent and was proper strategy in attempt to avoid death sentence in light of overwhelming evidence); <u>Walker v. State</u>, 862 So.2d 888, 890 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003) (holding that waiving the first closing without defendant's consent is another one of those trial strategy decisions that needs to be left to the independent judgment of trial counsel); <u>Demurjian v. State</u>, 727 So.2d 324, 327 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999)(finding that whether to present an "all or nothing" closing argument is a matter of trial strategy which does not require a defendant's consent).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal explained the rationale for not requiring a defendant's consent to strategy decisions as follows,

there is no requirement for counsel to obtain a client's consent for trial strategy decisions. To require such consent would severely undermine the value of the "constitutionally protected independence of counsel" and would begin the imposition of a set of rules that was rejected by <u>Strickland</u>,<sup>1</sup> 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065.

<u>Demurjian</u>, 727 So.2d at 327. The court's holding is consistent with the United States Supreme Court's holdings on the issue. In <u>Florida v. Nixon</u>, 543 U.S. 175, 187 (2004), the Court, over the suggestion of this Court, refused to expand the list of fundamental rights that are personal only to the defendant beyond "whether to plead guilty, waive a jury, testify in his or her own behalf, or take an appeal." Indeed the Court refused to impose a rule that would require a defense attorney to obtain the express consent of a defendant before conceding to a jury, the defendant's guilt to the crime charged. <u>See also Harvey v. State</u>, 946 So. 2d 937,947 (Fla. 2006)(recognizing that under <u>Nixon</u> a trial counsel's strategic decision to concede guilt is a decision that is viewed under <u>Strickland</u> regardless of whether the defendant consented to the strategy). Consequently, the law is clear, decisions to call particular witnesses are within the sound discretion of the attorney and cannot be circumscribed by the need for a defendant's approval. Petitioner's argument that trial counsel was required to call Ditto as a witness because such decisions are fundamental to the defendant is clearly not the law in Florida.

In denying relief on this claim, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held,

Determining which witnesses should be called by the defense is not a fundamental decision to be made by the defendant himself. The trial court properly denied Puglisi's demands that Ditto be called to testify because such a decision is better made by a professional advocate who is considering not just what the anticipated testimony might be, but issues of credibility and potential harm to the defendant as well.

Puglisi v. State, 56 So.3d 787, 793 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). Appellant's reliance on

<sup>1</sup> <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

<u>Blanco</u> and <u>Cain</u>, for a contrary position is of no moment. The Fourth District Court of Appeal found <u>Blanco</u> inapposite to the case at bar. <u>Puglisi</u>, at 793. That finding was correct. Blanco specifically requested that his lawyer call certain witnesses despite his attorney's advice such testimony would be detrimental. <u>Blanco</u>, at 524. The trial court ultimately granted Blanco's request and permitted the witnesses to testify against advice from counsel. <u>Id</u>. On appeal Blanco argued the trial court reversibly erred by granting **his** request to allow the witnesses to testify. This Court held "under these circumstances the trial court did not err in allowing appellant to present witnesses." <u>Id</u>., at 524. In other words, this Court refused to reward Blanco for creating error and then seek relief from his invited error.<sup>2</sup> Because the <u>Blanco</u> opinion never addressed the distinction between decisions which must ultimately be determined by the defendant and strategy

Blanco v. Singletary, 943 F.2d 1477, 1495 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991)(footnotes omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In reviewing <u>Blanco</u> the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal noted,

the trial court overreached its authority and infringed upon the relationship between Blanco and his attorneys by requiring defense counsel to call two additional witnesses. Generally, trial tactics are for defense counsel to formulate. The decision as to which witnesses to call is an aspect of trial tactics that is normally entrusted to counsel.

decisions, it cannot be considered to have extended "fundamental decisions" to encompass the tactical decision not to call a witness. As such, the decision at bar is not contrary to <u>Blanco</u> or <u>Cain</u>. Respondent asserts that this is a critical distinction which did not go unnoticed by the Fourth District when it held simply because this court would not find error in a trial court's decision to accede to the wishes of the defendant, does not mean that the a trial court must do so. Similarly, in <u>Cain</u> the defendant invited the court's ruling. Therein a disagreement arose between Cain and his attorney regarding the jury's composition. The trial court acquiesced to Cain's wishes and he was convicted. On appeal, Cain sought reversal based on the trial court's ruling. Denying the court relied on <u>Milligan v</u>. <u>State</u>, 177 So. 2d 75 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1965) noting that, "Cain chose his jury and was convicted." <u>Id</u>., at 876.

Both <u>Cain</u> and <u>Blanco</u> stand for the proposition that when a defendant requests the trial court allow him to pursue certain tactics in contravention of his attorney's advice, such defendant will not be heard on appeal that it was error for the trial court to grant the request. Similarly, when an attorney honors his client's wishes regarding strategy or tactics, the attorney will not be deemed ineffective. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 894 So.2d 137, 146 (Fla. 2004). See also <u>Sims v. State</u>, 602 So.2d 1253, 1257-58 (Fla. 1992) ("[W]e do not believe counsel can be considered

ineffective for honoring the client's wishes."). Neither <u>Blanco</u> nor <u>Cain</u> discuss or even note the critical distinction between fundamental decisions with constitutional significance personal to the defendant and those decisions implicating trial strategy and tactics which are within the province of counsel. See <u>Jones v. Barnes</u>, 463 U.S. 745 (1983), <u>United States v. Burke</u>, 257 F. 2d 1321 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001).

The fallacy of Puglisi's argument is further illustrated by examination of <u>Milligan</u>, cited in <u>Blanco</u>. In <u>Milligan</u> the minor defendant was represented by counsel and entered a guilty plea. Pursuant to this plea, Milligan was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to 5 years imprisonment. Milligan sought post-conviction relief because the trial court failed to comply with the statutory notice to parents requirement. Failure to follow this notification requirement renders a judgment and sentence void. <u>Milligan</u>, at 76. Although the minor Milligan's parents were not notified, his attorney was present. <u>Milligan</u>, at 77. The trial court denied post-conviction relief in part because Milligan "was represented by an attorney at arraignment and all subsequent stages of the proceedings." <u>Milligan</u>, at 76. At issue was whether the child's parents or his attorney were more important to the protection of the minor defendant. The court found,

The obvious purpose of Section 932.38 is to furnish a safegoard [*sic*] to minors accused of crimes by requiring

that the opportunity be made available for consultation and advice with the individuals, who, society must assume, are those most vitally concerned with the minor's best interests. It can be argued that the presence of an attorney provides greater safeguards for a minor defendant's rights than does the presence of his lay parents. This argument fails, however, to recognize that the attorney's function is to present alternative courses of action, not make decisions. The ultimate decisionmaking function is to be left to the client. It is here that the need of advice and counsel by the minor's parents or guardians arises.

<u>Milligan</u>, at 77. Thus, the court held the presence of counsel did not off-set or neutralize the failure to provide the statutorily required notice to the minor's parents. <u>Id</u>., at 77. This holding offers no support for Petitioner's argument. First, the respective importance of the guidance provided to a minor by either his parents or his attorney at the time of the minor's arrest has absolutely no relevance to the issue regarding strategic decisions at trial. Moreover, <u>Milligan</u> involved a defendant's decision to exercise a recognized fundamental right, i.e., taking a plea. That is not the issue herein, and therefore <u>Milligan</u> offers absolutely no support for Pugilsi. Simply because this Court cited to <u>Milligan</u> in <u>Blanco</u> does not transform the issue into something it is not. Respondent would also note that <u>Millgan</u> was decided almost twenty years before <u>Strickland</u>. Likewise, <u>Blanco</u> was decided before, Strickland became final.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion (IB 25), this Court in Blanco did not convert the tactical decision regarding which witnesses to call to one of those fundamental rights exclusively within a defendant's control. Antithetical to Petitioner's claim (IB 29), he was not deprived of the opportunity to make important tactical decisions. In fact, counsel thoroughly discussed the matter with Puglisi and decided against calling Ditto. Had Puglisi unequivocally requested discharge of his court appointed counsel, the trial court could have conducted hearings pursuant to both Nelson v. State, 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973) and Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). It is certain, that a defendant does have the right to choose and conduct **his own** defense. However, that is a right of **self representation.** That right does not permit a defendant to override decisions of counsel. Indeed, under our adversarial system, the assistance of a lawyer is considered crucial to a fair trial. See Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25 (1972); Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963); Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458 (1938);Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932).

Consequently Puglisi could have represented himself, and then he could have pursued his own tactics and strategy. He did not choose to do that. Moreover, Puglisi also has a second remedy pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 by which he may challenge his counsel's strategic decision through a motion for post conviction relief. Therefore he is not without available remedies. However forcing an attorney to follow the wishes of a client at trial, regarding a classic strategic decision, is not an appropriate remedy to protect a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel. In fact, such a rule would seriously undermine that right as explained by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Nixon</u>. See also Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470 (2000)(refusing to impose bright line rules on defense counsel must be free to explore and exercise professional judgment)

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal should be affirmed. There is no precedent from this Court that recognizes a defendant's right to override the strategic decision of his counsel during a continued representation. Puglisi's reliance on <u>Blanco</u> and <u>Cain</u> for that proposition is incorrect.

## **Conclusion**

Consequently, this Court should AFFIRM the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in this case.